

LUND UNIVERSITY

Actions of Antimicrobial Peptides and Bacterial Components in Inflammation

Sigurdardottir, Thorgerdur

2009

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Sigurdardottir, T. (2009). Actions of Antimicrobial Peptides and Bacterial Components in Inflammation. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Anesthesiology and Intensive Care]. Faculty of Medicine, Lund University.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors

and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00 Section of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care, Department of Clinical Sciences Faculty of Medicine University of Lund, Sweden

Actions of Antimicrobial Peptides

and

Bacterial Components in Inflammation

Akademisk avhandling

som med vederbörligt tillstånd av Medicinska Fakulteten vid Lunds Universitet för avläggande av doktorsexamen i medicinsk vetenskap i ämnet anestesiologi och intensivvård, kommer att offentligen försvaras i Belfragesalen BMC, D 15 Lund, fredagen den 13 mars 2009, kl. 09.15

> av **Thorgerdur Sigurdardottir** Leg läkare

Handledare Professor Mikael Bodelsson

Fakultetsopponent Professor Else Tønnesen Department of Anaesthesiology Aarhus University Hospital Denmark

Organization LUND UNIVERSITY	Document name DOCTORAL DISSERTATION				
Section of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care, Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund	Date of issue Mars 13, 2009				
Care, Department of Chinear Colonecs, Dana	Sponsoring organization				
Author(s)	_				
Thorgerdur Sigurdardottir					
Title and subtitle					
Actions of Antimicrobial Peptides and Bacteri	al Components in Inflammation				
Abstract		<u></u>			
protect us from infections. The human cathelicidin-d broad spectrum antimicrobial activities but is also at (LPS), an important trigger of the widespread inflam been studied as an alternative to conventional antibic of its toxic effect on mammalian cells and evidence to been proposed that the cytotoxicity of LL-37 is due to hydrophobic amino acids from the N-terminal of LL antimicrobial and LPS-neutralizing actions in serum By using computer simulation we identified an activ displaying similar antimicrobial and LPS-binding ac holding promise as a template for the development o Sepsis due to Gram-positive bacteria is becoming in Streptococcus pyogenes, carrying a surface protein n cause of severe streptococcal infections like streptoc found that M1 protein is able to induce vascular nitri muscle cells and could thereby contribute to the seve by showing that M1 protein caused hyporesponsiver Bacterial compounds are able to activate Toll-like re using wild type and knockout mice revealed that M1 mice, only activating the latter. M1 protein only atta LL-37 possesses immunomodulatory effects. In order vascular nitric oxide production we used the well ide (IL-1 β), M1 protein from Streptococcus pyogenes an seems to have complex modulatory effects on vascul compound used.	lerived antimicrobial peptide, LI let to bind and neutralize bacteri matory response contributing to obtics but clinical trials have been that its antimicrobial effects are to hydrophobic amino acids. We -37, to generate less cytotoxic p de domain of LL-37, a 21 amino tivity in vitro as native LL-37 bi f peptide antibiotics for treating creasingly prevalent. The Gram- tamed M1 being fundamental fo occal toxic shock syndrome and to oxide (NO) production, which ere hypotension seen in septic pa tess to the vasoconstrictor, pheny ceptors generating an inflammar protein is able to attach to both ched to TLR2 in human blood v er to explore potential modulator entified proinflammatory compon and lipoteichoic acid (LTA). The lar nitric oxide production deper	37, not only possesses al lipopolysaccharide septic shock. LL-37 has hampered by indications inhibited by serum. It has were able, by removing eptides with retained acid fragment, GKE, it less toxic and therefore sepsis. positive bacterium r its virulence, is the major necrotizing fasciitis. We in turn relaxes smooth ttients. This we confirmed ylephrine, in rat aorta. tory response. Experiments TLR2 and TLR4 (TLR) in essels. ry effects of GKE on unds interleukin-1β results showed that GKE nding on the inflammatory			
Key words: antimicrobial peptides, LL-37, sepsis, phenylephrine	M1 protein, S. pyogenes, Toll-	ike receptors, nitric oxide,			
Classification system and/or index termes (if any):					
Supplementary bibliographical information:		Language			
		English			
ISSN and key title:		ISBN			
		978-91-86253-07-3			
Recipient's notes	Number of pages	Price			
	Security classification				

Distribution by (name and address) I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and dissertinate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation. Phytocheck and the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation and the above-mentioned dissertation. Phytocheck and the above-mentioned dissertation and the above-mentioned dissertation.

Section of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care, Department of Clinical Sciences Faculty of Medicine University of Lund, Sweden

Actions of Antimicrobial Peptides and Bacterial Components in Inflammation

Thorgerdur Sigurdardottir M.D.

Lund 2009

To Sveinbjörn, Einar, Helga and My beloved parents

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	6
ABBREVIATIONS	8
LIST OF PAPERS	9
BACKGROUND	11
Definition of sepsis and epidemiology	11
Innate and adaptive immunity	12
Antimicrobial peptides	13
M1 protein from Streptococcus pyogenes	15
The role of nitric oxide in sepsis	16
AIMS OF THE STUDIES	18
MATERIALS AND METHODS	19
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	25
Paper I	25
Paper II	30
Paper III	34
Paper IV	40
CONCLUSIONS	44
SUMMARY IN SWEDISH	45
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	47
REFERENCES	51
APPENDIX: Papers I-IV	

ABSTRACT

Antimicrobial peptides are evolutionally ancient parts of the innate immune system and their primary role is to protect us from infections. The human cathelicidin-derived antimicrobial peptide, LL-37, not only possesses broad spectrum antimicrobial activities but is also able to bind and neutralize bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS), an important trigger of the widespread inflammatory response contributing to septic shock. LL-37 has been studied as an alternative to conventional antibiotics but clinical trials have been hampered by indications of its toxic effect on mammalian cells and evidence that its antimicrobial effects are inhibited by serum. It has been proposed that the cytotoxicity of LL-37 is due to hydrophobic amino acids. We were able, by removing hydrophobic amino acids from the N-terminal of LL-37, to generate less cytotoxic peptides with retained antimicrobial and LPS–neutralizing actions in serum.

By using computer simulation we identified an active domain of LL-37, a 21 amino acid fragment, GKE, displaying similar antimicrobial and LPS-binding activity in vitro as native LL-37 but less toxic and therefore holding promise as a template for the development of peptide antibiotics for treating sepsis.

Sepsis due to Gram-positive bacteria is becoming increasingly prevalent. The Gram-positive bacterium *Streptococcus pyogenes*, carrying a surface protein named M1 being fundamental for its virulence, is the major cause of severe streptococcal infections like streptococcal toxic shock syndrome and necrotizing fasciitis. We found that M1 protein is able to induce vascular nitric oxide (NO) production, which in turn relaxes smooth muscle cells and could thereby contribute to the severe hypotension seen in septic patients. This we confirmed by showing that M1 protein caused hyporesponsiveness to the vasoconstrictor, phenylephrine, in rat aorta. Bacterial compounds are able to activate Toll-like receptors generating an inflammatory response. Experiments using wild type and knockout mice revealed that M1 protein is able to attach to both TLR2 and TLR4 (TLR) in mice, only activating the latter. M1 protein only attached to TLR2 in human blood vessels.

LL-37 possesses immunomodulatory effects. In order to explore potential modulatory effects of GKE on vascular nitric oxide production we used the well identified proinflammatory compounds interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), M1 protein from *Streptococcus pyogenes* and lipoteichoic acid (LTA). All three induced

vascular NO production in rat aorta. GKE at low concentration inhibited IL-1 β induced NO production, but synergistically increased it at higher concentrations. GKE did not affect the M1 protein induced NO production while GKE inhibited LTA induced NO production. Thus, GKE seems to have complex modulatory effects on vascular nitric oxide production depending on the inflammatory compound used.

ABBREVATIONS

- CF Carboxyfluorescein
- E. Coli Escherichia coli
- FPRL-1 Formyl peptide receptor like-1
- G-CSF Granulocyte colony stimulating factor
- GAS Group A Streptococcus
- IL-1 β Interleukin-1 β
- LPS Lipopolysaccharide
- LTA Lipoteichoic acid
- L-NAME L-N-nitroarginine methyl ester
- L-NMMA L-N-monomethylarginine
- MEC Minimal effective concentration
- NO Nitric oxide
- NOS Nitric oxide synthase
- PAMP Pathogen associated microbial pattern
- PE Phenylephrine
- PMN Polymorphonuclear neutrophils
- STSS Streptococcal toxic shock syndrome
- SIRS Systemic inflammatory response syndrome
- TLR Toll-like receptor

LIST OF PAPERS

The present thesis is based on the following papers

- I Christina D. Ciornei, Thorgerdur Sigurdardottir, Arthur Schmidtchen, Mikael Bodelsson: Antimicrobial and chemoattractant activity, lipopolysaccharide neutralization, cytotoxicity and inhibition by serum of analogs of human cathelicidin LL-37. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy* 2005; 49(7): 2845-2850.
- II Thorgerdur Sigurdardottir, Pia Andersson, Mina Davoudi, Martin Malmsten, Arthur Schmidtchen, Mikael Bodelsson: In Silico identification and biological evaluation of antimicrobial peptides based on human cathelicidin LL-37. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy* 2006; 50(9): 2983-2989.
- III Thorgerdur Sigurdardottir, Sigurbjörg Rutardottir, Matthias Mörgelin, Heiko Herwald, Viveka Björck, Mikael Bodelsson: M1 protein from *Streptococcus pyogenes* induces nitric oxide-mediated vascular hyporesponsiveness to phenylephrine: Involvement of toll-like receptor activation. Submitted.
- IV Thorgerdur Sigurdardottir, Johan Törnebrandt, Sigurbjörg Rutardottir, Mikael Bodelsson: The LL-37 derived peptide GKE has modulatory effects on vascular nitric oxide production. Manuscript

BACKGROUND

Definition of sepsis and epidemiology

Sepsis is a life threatening and complex clinical syndrome that affects all ages (1). Sepsis occurs when physical injury or immunosuppression damages the host's normal barrier against microbes resulting in a profound inflammatory response. Evident or a suspected infection, in addition to two or more of the systemic inflammatory response (SIRS) criteria are required for diagnosis (Table 1,(2)). Severe sepsis (sepsis accompanied with hypoperfusion or dysfunction of at least one organ system) and septic shock (sepsis accompanied by need for vasopressor despite adequate fluid resuscitation) carry high mortality rates of 30% and 40-70%, respectively, and are the most common causes of death in intensive care units in the western world (3, 4). Sepsis can be caused by Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria, viruses and fungi. Bacterial toxins or constituents can also evoke a sepsis-like syndrome. Though epidemiological studies of sepsis through the last decades have been quite difficult to interpret due to lack of a uniform definition of the disease, there seems to be a worldwide increase in the incidence of sepsis; from 82 cases per 100,000 population in 1979 to 240 per 100,000 in 2000 in USA, but the overall mortality rate has been declining during the same period from 27.8% to 17.9% (5). Despite improved survival rates, three times more people are dying each year from sepsis due to increased incidence of the disease (5, 6).

Interestingly, over the past two decades, there has been a shift from Gramnegative bacteria as the leading cause of sepsis towards Gram-positive bacteria, now accounting for over 50% of the cases. This shift could, at least partly, be explained by marketing of efficacious Gram-negative antibiotics, such as third generation cephalosporins as well as quinolones and the increased use of central venous catheters in the eighties. Also of notice, the mortality related to Gram-negative organisms has decreased over the years, whereas mortality has remained static for sepsis induced by Gram-positive bacteria (5). The incidence of severe invasive group A streptococcal infections (Gram-positive) is believed to have reemerged during the past 10-20 years (7).

The rate of candidemia (sepsis due to fungal organisms of *Candida* species) has increased by over 200 %, the last decades (5). Risk factors for candidemia include prior surgery, acute renal failure, and parenteral nutrition, in addition to multiple or prolonged antimicrobial treatment, neutropenia and central venous catheters (8). *Candida albicans* is a predominant species involved in both adult

and infantile candidemia while *C. parapsilosis* is an increasing cause in neonatal acquired fungal sepsis (9).

Table 1. Systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) (2).

Diagnosis includes two or more of the following criteria:					
(1)	temperature > 38 ° C or < 36 °C				
(2)	heart rate > 90 beats per minute				
(3)	respiratory rate > 20 breaths per minute or $PaCO_2 < 32 \text{ mm Hg}$				
(4)	white blood cell count > 12,000 / mm^3 or < 4,000/ mm^3 or > 10% immature (band) forms.				

Innate and adaptive immunity

The innate and adaptive immune systems are responsible for the host's defence against infections. Being in the first line, innate immunity includes phagocytotic cells like neutrophils, monocytes and macrophages, which without prior exposure and by the aid of enzymes and antimicrobial peptides rapidly try to battle the invading pathogens (10). These immune cells have surface bound pattern recognition receptors, e.g. Toll-like receptors (TLR), which bind to pathogen associated microbial patterns (PAMPs) shed from or present on the surface of the invading microbes. PAMPs include lipopolysaccharides (LPS) from Gram-negative bacteria, peptidoglycan and lipoteichoic acids (LTA) from Gram-positive bacteria, flagellin and viral RNA (11, 12). Vascular endothelial cells are among the first cells in the body that come into direct contact with circulating bacterial compounds. It is thus not surprising that endothelial cells also have pattern recognition receptors (13). TLR family members are expressed differentially among immune cells. Toll was originally described in the fruit fly Drosophilia as a type 1 transmembrane receptor controlling dorsal-ventral polarity during embryogenesis. Toll mutant fruit fly embryos failed to develop ventral and dorsal cell types, which the German scientists found very cool and funny, hence the name Toll (toll = funny in German) (14). I am not sure that I agree with the Germans there! Mammalian homologs to Drosophilia Toll are thus named TLR. To date, 10 human TLR (TLR1-TLR10) have been described, TLR2 and TLR4 being the

far most intensively studied mammalianToll (12). TLR act as microbial sensors and central evidence for their importance comes from models of infection in TLR-deficient mice (15, 16). Previous studies have revealed that LPS primarily binds to TLR4 and Gram-positive PAMPs to TLR2 (11, 15-17). When binding occurs, intracellular signalling pathways are activated, including release of NF- $\kappa\beta$, leading to production of various proinflammatory cytokines and nitric oxide (NO), a powerful vasodilator in sepsis-induced hypotension (18, 19).

While innate immunity acts broadly and quite unspecifically, the adaptive immune system manifests a high specificity for its target antigens. The pathogen must, however, first be recognized by the innate immune system, which then activates the adaptive immune system Thus, synergy between the two is essential in order to get a fully effective immune response (20). Innate immunity reacts immediately upon infection but the adaptive response is primarily based on the antigen-specific receptor expressed on T- and B-lymphocytes and becomes prominent several days after infection, when antigen-specific T and B cells have undergone clonal expansion (21).

Antimicrobial peptides

Antimicrobial peptides are the body's own antibiotics protecting us from the invasion of microbes and, if infection occurs, contributing to a first defence (22). They can naturally be found in the interface between an organism and the environment such as the human dermis, epithelium of airways and gut, seminal and vaginal fluids, breast milk and the cavernous vernix of the newborn (23).

Many antimicrobial peptides share the similar features of hydrophobic and hydrophilic amino acid residues arranged in an amphipathic alfa-helix as well as positive net charge (23). In this way, antimicrobial peptides can bind to bacteria, not only with hydrophobic but also through electrostatic interactions (24). The exact ways in which antimicrobial peptides kill or inhibit the growth microbes is not completely characterized, but most of them seem to exert their antimicrobial activity by disrupting bacterial, fungal and viral membranes causing lysis(25). The specific affection of antimicrobial peptides for microbes compared to mammalian cells is partly due to the fact that the net charge of biomembranes is largely based on its phospolipid stoichiometry and architecture. Bacterial biomembranes tend to have a highly electronegative composition of their phospholipids whereas mammalial cell membranes generally have a neutral net charge shielding them from the actions of the cationic antimicrobial peptides (22, 26). Other mechanisms for killing of microbes by antimicrobial peptides such as activation of proteolytic enzymes, have also been proposed (24).

The human cathelicidin antimicrobial peptide, LL-37, was discovered independently by three groups in 1995 (27-29). It is mainly stored in granules of mammalian neutrophils and is released when neutrophils get activated at the site of inflammation and infection (30). LL-37 is also expressed in various epithelial cells and its expression can, at least experimentally, be further induced by growth factors and vitamin D (31-33). LL-37, which consists of 37 amino acids, displays an amphipathic α -helical structure and carries a positive net charge of +6 at physiological pH. LL-37 not only possesses extensive antibacterial properties against Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria as well as fungi and enveloped viruses, but is also active against microbes conventional resistant to antibiotics such as methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (30). Another important property of LL-37 is its ability to bind and neutralize lipopolysaccharides (LPS) from the cell wall of Gramnegative bacteria, one of the major activator of the inflammatory response in Gram-negative sepsis (29, 34). Furthermore, LL-37 attracts neutrophils, monocytes and T-lymphocytes via activation of the formyl peptide receptor like-1, FPRL1 (35).

Few if any diseases have been directly linked to the lack of LL-37 but the rare disease Kostmann syndrome is worth mentioning. The syndrome, also known as severe congenital neutropenia, is characterized by low levels of neutrophils. In the past, the affected children usually died in early childhood from severe bacterial infections. Although granulocyte-colony stimulation factor (G-CSF) can today normalize the neutrophil count, these patients still suffer from periodontal diseases. The saliva from these patients containes no LL-37 but whether the deficiency of LL-37 is directly linked to the formation of periodontal disease remains to be determined (36, 37).

The combination of broad spectrum antimicrobial and LPS-binding properties makes LL-37 an attractive candidate for adjuvant treatment of sepsis, especially today when resistance towards conventional antibiotics is becoming an increasing problem (38). Unfortunately, native LL-37, like many other antimicrobial peptides, has been shown to be toxic to human eukaryotic cells in concentrations slightly above those needed for its antimicrobial activity (34, 39). Thus, the therapeutic window of the endogenous "antibiotic" LL-37 seems to be rather narrow. It has been proposed that the cytotoxicity is due to the hydrophobic properties of LL-37 (40). The cytotoxic effects of LL-37 liberated

into the circulation is inhibited by its binding to plasma proteins, e.g. apolipoprotein A-1. The binding unfortunately also inhibits the antimicrobial activities of the peptide, rendering naturally occurring LL-37 ineffective as a future peptide-based antibiotic for treating sepsis (39, 41, 42). Thus, one of the goals of this thesis was to find a peptide based on LL-37, which was less toxic and was active in plasma.

M1 protein from Streptococcus pyogenes

Streptococcus pyogenes is a Gram-positive bacterium belonging to the Lancefield streptococci group A (GAS) (43). It usually causes mild infections like bacterial pharyngitis and impetigo and, in fact, streptococcal sore throat is the most common bacterial infection in childhood, of which group A is responsible for the great majority. Scarlet fever results from streptococcal strains carrying pyrogenic exotoxins and is usually associated with pharyngeal infections. Streptococcal pharyngitis is treated with antibiotics not because of the infection per se, which is usually self-limited, but in order to minimize the risk for the late, but serious, nonsuppurative complications glomerulonephritis and rheumatic fever. Importantly, invasive infections due to S. pyogenes seem to be increasingly prevalent around the world, though it is not sure that this is a truly significant increase or due to increased interest and alertness regarding this pathogen (44-46). These infections include streptococcal toxic shock syndrome (STSS) and necrotizing fasciitis, carrying mortality rates of 45-85 % despite modern antibiotics and intensive care therapy (46). The fact that STSS is able to affect young and previously healthy individuals is of great concern. All invasive S. progenes strains carry α -helical coiled M proteins on their surface, being fundamental for their virulence (45, 47). Strains rich in M protein rapidly multiply in human blood where they by binding to various host proteins block opsonisation by antibodies and complement thereby preventing phagocytosis of the bacteria by neutrophils (45, 48). About 150 different M proteins have yet been identified, and are named in numerical order after time of discovery, M1 - M150 (49). S. pyogenes carrying M1 protein has been globally disseminated during the last decades and is the most prevalent strain isolated from patients with severe invasive infections (44-46, 50). M1 has also been reported to be an independent predictor of death (7).

It has been shown that M1 proteins induce interleukin (IL)-1 β , IL-6 and tumor necrosis factor- α expression in human peripheral blood monocytes (51). It was demonstrated that M1 protein binds to TLR2 on these cells. Recently, soluble

M1 protein has been identified as a superantigen, contributing to the hyperinflammatory response seen in severe invasive streptococcal infections (52). The finding that M1 protein interacts with TLR2 on monocytes suggests that it may be an important PAMP. A TLR-mediated effect by M1 protein on the vasculature is not known but if so could contribute to the severe circulatory dysfunction accompanying invasive streptococcal infections.

The role of nitric oxide in sepsis

Nitric oxide (NO) is a highly diffusible lipophilic gas with a halflife of 6-10 seconds in aqueous environments because of its rapid oxidation to nitrite and nitrate. In 1980, elevated urinary nitrate levels were reported in humans with diarrhoea and fever, and subsequently LPS-challenged rats were shown to have urinary nitrate levels in correlation with their degree of fever (53, 54). When the role of NO in vasodilatation was discovered, the interest in NO as one of the causative agents of septic shock escalated further (18, 55, 56).

NO is primarily synthesized by nitric oxide synthase (NOS) family proteins according to the equation: 1 L-arginine + 1 NADPH + 2 $O_2 = 1$ L-citrullin + NO + 2 H₂O (Fig 1). Up to date, three different NOS have been identified named neuronal NOS (nNOS), endothelial NOS (eNOS) and inducible NOS (iNOS). NO interacts with the enzyme soluble guanylate synthase. Binding of NO to this enzyme leads to the production of the second messenger molecule, cGMP, resulting in NO-dependent relaxation of vascular smooth muscle. In healthy states, NO is continuously produced and plays an important role in controlling normal vascular tone. (19)

Stimulation of TLR leads to a complex intracellular cascade triggering activation and production of cytokines as well as nitric oxide. In severe infections the cytokine release and NO formation can result in systemic vasodilation, diminished myocardial contractility and activation of the coagulation cascade, all hallmarks of sepsis (19). The crucial role of NO in LPS-induced SIRS was established in iNOS knockout mice showing only minimal symptoms after LPS injection when compared to wild type mice having severe hypotension and 60% mortality (57). In vivo studies with septic rodents treated with NOS inhibitors were promising and the expectations were high among clinicians concerning the therapeutic value of NOS inhibitors in septic shock patients. Unfortunately, a phase III randomized double blind placebo controlled study investigating the potentials of the NOS inhibitor, L-

NMMA, to reverse catecholamine resistant septic shock was prematurely terminated due to increased 28 day mortality in the treatment group, mainly of cardiovascular cause (58). This suggests that non-selective inhibition of the production of this important molecule hits to broadly, thus affecting fundamental regulation of the circulation. Principles of therapy targeting earlier steps in the cascade from pathogen to host NO production might be more successful.



Fig 1. Nitric oxide (NO) formation via inducible nitric oxide (iNOS). Endothelial shear or exogenous vasodilators release NO in the endothelium. NO rapidly diffuses into the vascular smooth muscle cell were it binds and activates soluble guanylate cyclase (GC) to generate cGMP. Key action of cGMP is to mediate uptake of Ca^{+2} into the sarcoplasmic reticulum, which promotes vasodilatation. NO is also able to inhibit platelet aggregation and leukocyte adhesion. Moreover, NO can be produced via upregulation of iNOS via cytokines or action of PAMPs on TLR. From Kirkeboen et Strand, Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica 1999; 43: 275-288

AIMS OF THE STUDIES

The present thesis aims at answering the following questions:

Can removal of N-terminal hydrophobic amino acids from LL-37 decrease its cytotoxicity as well as its inhibition by serum but preserve the antimicrobial actions and LPS-binding properties?

Is it possible, by the aid of computer simulation to identify shorter variants of LL-37 with further reduced toxicity but preserved antimicrobial and LPS-neutralizing effects?

Can soluble M1 protein from *Streptococcus pyogenes* induce TLR-mediated vascular nitric oxide production sufficient to cause hyporesponsiveness to the vasopressor phenylephrine?

Does GKE, a shorter variant of LL-37 identified in paper II have immunomodulatory effects like native LL-37?

MATERIALS AND METHODS

For details on the material and methods used in the present thesis, the reader is referred to the separate papers. All experiments were approved by the Regional Research Ethics Committee and the Animal Research Ethics Committee of Malmö/Lund.

Peptides used in paper I, II and IV

In paper I, LL-37 (aa 104 to 140 of the cathelicidin propeptide hCAP-18) was compared to two less hydrophobic fragments obtained by N-terminal truncation, named 106 (aa 106 to 140) and 110 (aa 110 to 140), a previously designed more hydrophobic variant, the 18-mer LLKKK and the bovine cathelicidin BMAP-27, concerning antimicrobial properties, inhibition by serum, lipopolysaccharide neutralization, chemotactic activity and toxicity against human erythrocytes and cultured vascular smooth muscle cells (Table 2).

Peptide	Amino acid sequence
LL-37	(N)-LLGDFFRKSKEKIGKEFKRIVQRIKDFLRNLVPRTES-(C)
Fragment 106	(N)- GDFFRKSKEKIGKEFKRIVQRIKDFLRNLVPRTES-(C)
Fragment 110	(N)- RKSKEKIGKEFKRIVQRIKDFLRNLVPRTES-(C)
18-mer LLKKK	(N)- KLFKRIVKRILKFLRKLV -(C)
BMAP-27 ^a	(N)-GRFKRFRKKFKKLFKKLSPVIPLLHL-am-(C)

Table 2. Amino acid sequences of the peptides used in paper I

^{*a*} Note that the bovine cathelicidin BMAP-27 is amidated at the C-terminal end. The underlined amino acids of the 18-mer LLKKK have been changed compared to the sequence of the native peptide, LL-37.

In order to identify a region of LL-37 responsible for the antimicrobial activity of the peptide, we used computer simulation to search for amphipathic, helical regions, with a high predicted internal stability. A 21-amino-acid fragment

(GKE) was synthesized, the biological actions of which were compared to those of two equally long peptides derived from the N and C termini of LL-37 as well as native LL-37 (Table 3). Amphipathicity of idealized helices was investigated by generating helical wheel diagrams (Fig 2).

Tε	ıble	e 3.	Amino	acid	sequences	of the	peptides	used in	paper II
-			-						

Amino acid sequence	Helicalicity index		
(N)-LLGDFFRKSKEK	IGKEFKRIVQRIKDFLRNLVPRTI	ES-(C)	5.08
(N)-LLGDFFRKSKEKIGKEFKRIV -(C)			0.97
(N) –	GKEFKRIVQRIKDFLRNLVPR	-(C)	5.16
(N) –	FKRIVQRIKDFLRNLVPRTI	ES-(C)	2.93
	Amino acid sequence (N)-LLGDFFRKSKEK (N)-LLGDFFRKSKEK (N)- (N)-	Amino acid sequence (N) -LLGDFFRKSKEKIGKEFKRIVQRIKDFLRNLVPRTH (N) -LLGDFFRKSKEKIGKEFKRIV (N) - GKEFKRIVQRIKDFLRNLVPRTH (N) - FKRIVQRIKDFLRNLVPRTH	Amino acid sequence (N)-LLGDFFRKSKEKIGKEFKRIVQRIKDFLRNLVPRTES-(C) (N)-LLGDFFRKSKEKIGKEFKRIV -(C) (N)- GKEFKRIVQRIKDFLRNLVPR (N)- FKRIVQRIKDFLRNLVPR

Antimicrobial assay

Antimicrobial activity was measured by using radial diffusion assay. Isolates of the following microbes were used in paper I and II; *Escherichia coli*,



Fig 2 Helical wheel diagrams of the peptides GKE (A), LLG (B), and FKR (C). Hydrophobic amino acids are represented by white circles, hydrophilic amino acids by black circles, and the indifferent amino acids, G and P, by hatched circles.

Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Staphylococcus aureus, and *Candida albicans.* In paper II, an isolate of *Candida parapsilosis* was added. Microbes were mixed with agarose and allowed to solidify in a Petri dish. A series of 4 mm wells were punched into the gel after solidification and peptides in different concentrations were applied and allowed to diffuse into the gel. An overlay agar rich in medium to allow visible growth of the microbes was then poured over and the plates were incubated upside down for 18 h. Antibacterial activity was indicated by a clear zone corresponding to the lack of bacterial growth around the well. The diameter of the clear zone surrounding the wells was measured with a metric scale to the nearest 0.1 mm. In Paper I, minimal effective concentration (MEC) was defined as the lowest peptide concentration inhibiting visual microbial growth.

Assay of leakage from liposomes.

Unilamellar dioleoylphosphatidylcholine/cholesterol liposomes, around 100 nm in diameter, containing carboxyfluorescein (CF) were prepared. Intact liposomes contain CF at a high concentration at which the fluorescence is selfquenched and the recorded fluorescence intensity from liposomes with entrapped CF is therefore low. Upon leakage from the liposomes, released CF is dequenched and, hence, it fluoresces. The CF release was determined by monitoring the emitted fluorescence.

Effects of serum on antimicrobial activity.

Serum obtained from healthy human donors was mixed with peptide solutions to achieve a peptide concentration of 20 μ M in 0, 40, or 99% serum. The peptide-serum mixtures were applied to the wells of a radial diffusion assay using *E. coli* as described above.

Cytotoxicity

Hemolysis

As an indicator for short term toxicity, the ability of the peptides to induce lysis of erythrocytes was tested. A suspension of erythrocytes from healthy human donors was incubated in the presence of peptides at different concentrations. Hemolysis was assessed by measuring the absorbance of the supernatant.

DNA fragmentation assay

DNA fragmentation is a part of the later stages of apoptosis. In order to investigate the cytotoxicity of the peptides after a longer exposure time we measured their ability to induce apoptosis in cultured human aortic vascular smooth muscle cells. Cultured human aortic vascular smooth muscle cells were incubated in the absence or presence of the peptides at different concentrations. DNA fragmentation was measured by binding of the DNA fragments to immobilized antihistone antibodies. The bound DNA fragments were then detected with anti-DNA antibodies.

Chemotaxis assay

Polymorphonuclear neutrophils (PMN) were isolated from healthy donor blood. Peptides at different concentrations were added to the lower wells of a microchemotaxis chamber. The suspension the PMN was added to the upper chamber, which was separated from the lower chamber by a polycarbonate membrane with pores so small that only activated neutrophils are able to pass through. After incubation for 30-60 minutes, the membrane was fixed, dried and stained. The number of transmigrated cells was counted in at least three fields with a light microscope and are expressed as number of cells per mm².

Measurement of nitric oxide production in blood vessels

Rats were killed under anestesthesia with isoflurane. The thoracic aorta was removed and cut into cylindrical segments. The segments were incubated for 24 h in the absence or presence of substances detailed in Table 4. As NO is rapidly oxidized to nitrate and nitrite, NO release from the segments is reflected in the accumulation of nitrate and nitrite in the incubation medium. After incubation, the aorta segments were removed, briefly blotted on a paper cloth, and weighed. After centrifugation, the nitrite/nitrate concentration in the medium was determined using a colorimetric assay with Griess reagent.

Paper	Stimulant production	of	NO	Substance tested
Ι	LPS			LL-37 fragment 106 fragment 110 18-mer LLKKK BMAP-27
II	LPS			LL-37 GKE FKR LLG
III	LPS M1 protein			Dexamethasone
IV	IL-1β LTA M1 protein			GKE WRW4 WKY Kn62

Table 4. Substances used in experiments measuring vascular nitric oxide production.

Measurements of smooth muscle contraction of rat aorta

Rat aorta segments were incubated for 16 hours in the presence of the following combinations of compounds: a) control medium only, b) M1 protein or c) LPS. After incubation, the segments were placed on two L-shaped hooks

in 2-mL tissue baths containing Krebs-Ringer solution thermostatically maintained at 37 °C and continuously aerated with 8% CO₂ in O₂. One of the hooks was connected to a force displacement transducer for isometric measurement of circular smooth muscle tension and the vessel tension was recorded. The α_1 -adrenoreceptor agonist, phenylephrine, was added cumulatively. The resulting contraction was registered and concentration-response curves drawn. These experiments were performed in the absence or presence of the inhibitor of nitric oxide synthesis, L-N nitroarginine methyl ester (L-NAME).

Thin sectioning and transmission electron microscopy

Thin sections of aorta from wild type B6 BOM, knockout TLR2-/- and TLR4-/- mice, and human omental arteries and veins were prepared. M1 protein was labelled with 10-nm gold particles. Antibodies against TLR2 and TLR4 were detected with secondary antibodies labelled with 5-nm gold particles. The sections were incubated with labelled M1 protein and gold labelled antibodies and examined in an electron microscope. Thin sections from TLR2 -/- animals incubated with TLR2 antibodies and TLR4-/- sections with TLR4 antibodies were used as negative controls.

Measurements of smooth muscle contraction of mouse aorta

Wild type B6 BOM, TLR2 -/-, and TLR4 -/- mice were anesthetized to death with isoflurane. These experiments were performed essentially as previously described in rat aorta with minor modification.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Paper I

LL-37 has an abundance of hydrophobic amino acids in its N-terminus. The removal of amino acids is named truncation. We chose to reduce the hydrophobicity of LL-37 in a stepwise fashion by removing the first two Nterminal leucines (resulting in fragment 106) and the first six amino acids, including the two leucines, one glycine, and two phenylalanines (resulting in fragment 110). All peptides tested were antimicrobial. Minimal effective concentrations are presented in Table 5. The presence of physiological salt concentrations did not affect the antimicrobial activities of the peptides to any major extent, with the exception that all the peptides in the concentrations tested lost their antimicrobial activities against C. albicans in the presence of 150 mM NaCl. Our data do not provide any explanation for this. It has previously been demonstrated that the helical structure of the LL-37 molecule is affected by the presence of anions such as Cl⁻ (39). It therefore seems reasonable to assume that the salt-dependent loss of activity against C. albicans is due to conformational changes of the peptide molecules. These experiments demonstrate that moderate N-terminal truncation does not reduce the antimicrobial action of LL-37 (Table 5).

The presence of serum markedly reduced the antimicrobial activity of LL-37, to a smaller extent fragment 110, but did not affect fragment 106 (Figure 3). Serum alone was weakly antibacterial. It has been demonstrated that the binding of LL-37 to the plasma protein apolipoprotein A-1 inhibits both its antimicrobial and cytotoxic effects (59). The fact that fragment 106 and fragment 110 were only marginally inhibited by serum indicates that the truncated amino acids are important for binding to plasma proteins, at least apolipoprotein A-1. Animicrobial acitivities of these fragments in serum must be regarded as beneficial if they are to be used as a systemic treatment for sepsis patients (42).

	NaCl (mM)	Minimal effective concentration (µM)						
		LL-37	Fr 106	Fr 110	18-mer	BMAP-27		
E. coli	0	0.26	0.40	0.33	0.33	0.14		
	150	1.2	0.42	0.47	0.66	0.50		
P. aeruginosa	0	0.18	0.26	0.18	0.29	0.20		
	150	0.19	0.22	0.15	0.06	0.10		
S. aureus	0	1.5	0.86	0.8	1.2	0.67		
	150	4.6	2.6	2.4	0.39	0.45		
C. albicans	0	10	5.1	2.4	2.2	0.36		
	150	>40	>40	>40	>40	>40		

Table 5. Minimal effective concentration values obtained by radial diffusion assay for LL-37, fragments 106, 110 and 18-mer LLKKK as well as BMAP-27 against Gram-negative and – positive bacteria and *C. albicans.*^a

^aThe values were determined at low (0 mM) or physiological concentration (150 mM) of NaCl. Each value is based on data from 3 independent experiments.



Fig 3. Inhibition of antibacterial activity by serum, as assessed by a radial diffusion assay using *E.* coli. *statistically significant difference from experiments with the same peptide at 0 % serum (control) and # statistically significant difference from result in the presence of LL-37 at the corresponding serum concentration.

All peptides tested inhibited nitrate/nitrite accumulation similarly (Fig 4). Polymyxin B was used as a positive control for LPS neutralization.



Fig 4. Nitrate/nitrite accumulation in segments of rat aortas during 24 h of incubation, as measured with Griess reagent. * statitically significant difference from nitrate/nitrite accumulation in the presence of LPS and # statistically significant difference from effect of LL-37 at the corresponding concentration. LPS alone (filled bar) increased the amount of nitrate/nitrite production compared to control. Coincubation with LPS and peptides lowered the production of nitrite/nitrate induced by LPS.

We conclude that N-terminal truncation of LL-37 does not affect LPS binding and neutralization to any major extent, which is consistent with previous findings that it is the middle portion of LL-37 that possesses the LPS neutralizing effects (60).



Fig 5. Chemotaxis of human neutrophils in response to LL-37, fragments 106 and 110, 18-mer LLKKK, and the classical chemoattractant formyl peptide, fMLP, *statistically significant difference from control, # statistically significant difference from value for LL-37 at corresponding concentration.

As expected, the positive control fMLP displayed a significant chemoattractant activity (61). The concentration-dependent chemoattractive action of the peptides was similar, forming a biphasic curve. The chemotactic function of neutrophil granulocytes seem to be decreased in septic patients, but the pathophysiological implications of this remain to be elucidated Infusion of the chemoattractant interleukin-8 or fMLP into rabbits abolishes the ability of neutrophil granulocytes to migrate into tissues, partly due to an inhibition of adhesion to the endothelium (62, 63). Moreover, pretreatment of neutrophil granulocytes with chemotactic mediators decreases their migration through endothelial monolayers in vitro (61).

These results indicate that the N-terminally truncated analogs of LL-37 are chemoattractant receptor agonists. Whether this is beneficial for the treatment of sepsis remains to be determined.



Fig 6. Concentration-response curves of the lytic activity of the peptides towards human erythrocytes. * statistically significant difference from value for LL-37 at corresponding conc; # statistically significant difference from value for fragment 110 at corresponding concentration.

All peptides induced a concentration-dependent hemolysis (Fig 6). 18-mer LLKKK and BMAP-27 showed severe cytotoxicity indicated by an even higher hemolysis than LL-37. On the other hand, our truncated variants Fr 106 and 110 caused less hemolysis than LL-37. The 18-mer LLKKK, has been demonstrated to be powerful at protecting mice from a lethal dose of endotoxin and was thus put forward as a candidate drug for the treatment of Gramnegative endotoxic shock (60). In our experiments, this peptide showed antimicrobial effects comparable to LL-37 and even greater LPS neutralization property but although it was reported not to be toxic to murine macrophages (60), we found it to induce far more haemolysis than LL-37 even at lower concentrations.



Fig 7. DNA fragmentation in cultured human smooth muscle cells. * statistically significant difference from control in the absence of peptides.

All peptides induced DNA fragmentation, but our two truncated variants to a much lesser degree than LL-37. 18-mer LLKKK and BMAP-27 were excluded from these experiments due to their high short term toxicity against erythrocytes.

Paper II

All peptides inhibited the growth of *E. coli* similarly at low salt concentrations. Our favourite GKE still showed antibacterial activities against *E. coli* in the presence of NaCl at 150 mM (physiological salt concentration) and, in fact, GKE inhibited the growth of *P. aeruginosa* even more efficiently than LL-37. In paper I, we showed that an enhanced activity against *S. aureus* can be achieved by removal of as few as 2 or 6 N-terminal amino acids from LL-37, see Table 1 and 3 (64). This correlates with the present finding that the mainly N-terminally truncated peptides, GKE and FKR displayed stronger antimicrobial activities against *S. aureus* than LL-37 and LLG. All peptides inhibited the growth of *C. albicans* and GKE was also found to be the most effective against *C. parapsilosis*.



Fig 8. Antimicrobial activity assessed by RDA



Fig 9. Inhibition of antibacterial activity by serum assessed by radial diffusion assay using *E*. coli. * statistically significantly different from the value for serum alone at the same dilution, # statistically significantly different from the value for LL-37 in the presence of serum at the same dilution.

GKE still retained antibacterial activity even in 99% serum (Fig 9). Further rendering it useful as a candidate for treating sepsis.



Fig 10. Effects on liposomes

Liposome experiments were performed in order to investigate if there was a connection between microbial killing and disruption of lipid membranes (Fig 10). As the leakage induced by the peptides found in the liposome experiments correlated with the antibacterial activity of the peptides, it seems reasonable to believe that the induction of microbial lysis is an important mechanism for the inhibition of bacterial growth by all these peptides. Interestingly, no such correlation was observed for the inhibition of the growth of the two *Candida* species suggesting that the mechanisms of the antifungal actions are different from their antibacterial actions.

GKE was as potent and effective in neutralizing LPS as intact LL-37 (Fig 11). Although conventional antibiotics may successfully kill pathogens involved in gram-negative sepsis, they cannot bind and neutralize LPS. In fact, bacteriolytic antibiotics, such as β -lactams, can even increase the amount of LPS (65). This means that despite the use of conventional antibiotics and support therapy, endotoxemia may still remain.



Fig 11. Nitrate/nitrite accumulation.in segments of rat aortas during 24 h of incubation, as measured with Griess reagent. Open bars, LPS alone; * statistically. significant. difference from the value for LPS alone.

LPS is one of the most powerful stimulants of the immune system (1). Thus, by binding and neutralizing LPS, it would be possible to avoid these mechanisms, which seriously contribute to the pathophysiology of sepsis.



Fig 12. Chemotaxis of human neutrophils in response to LL-37, LLG, GKE, FKR and the classical chemoattractant formyl peptide, fMLP. * statistically significant difference from control, # statistically significant difference from value for LL-37 at corresponding concentration.

All the peptides tested possessed similar chemotactic activities against neutrophils (Fig 12). In the highest concentration tested, GKE showed a pronounced increase in its chemotactic activity. This could, at least partly, be due to a loss of selectivity at higher concentrations, resulting in an agonistic activity on other chemoattractant receptors than the receptor activated by LL-37, FPRL1.

The results of the cytotoxicity experiments in paper II, concerning both hemolysis and DNA fragmentation showed that our truncated variants were all significantly less toxic than the full-length LL-37. LL-37 has been found to prevent sepsis in LPS-exposed neonatal rats (66). However, our previous results show that even low doses of LL-37 can induce apoptosis in human cultured smooth muscle cells (6). Taken together this paper show that in silico analysis may be useful in the design of shorter peptides with a lower toxicity than the naturally occurring LL-37.

In this way we have identified GKE, a 21-amino-acid-long peptide constituting the midportion of LL-37, displaying antimicrobial and LPS-binding activities similar to those of LL-37 but which is less toxic. This peptide could serve as a template for the development of peptide antibiotics for the treatment of sepsis. LL-37 has recently been shown to have immunomodulatory effects on the host's defense against infections (67). We were thus interested to find out if the same applied to GKE. To this end we needed a system for vascular inflammation independent of LPS since the direct binding of GKE to LPS, neutralizing its actions could interfere with the interpretation of the immunomodulatory results. We therefore investigated the actions of M1 protein from *S. Pyogenes*.

Paper III

M1 protein induced NO formation in rat aorta comparable to LPS (Fig 13). These results indicate that M1 protein is a powerful inducer of vascular inflammation. NO is a vasodilator and causes hyporesponsiveness to vasocontrictors in vitro (68, 69). It is also well known that septic patients do not respond to vasoconstrictive drugs to the same extent as non septic patients, in part due to an increased basal NO-production (19, 70). We were therefore interested in investigating if M1 protein could also mediate the response of vasoconstrictors.



Fig 13. Nitrite/nitrate accumulation in rat aorta incubated with LPS and M1 protein from S. pyogenes. * *statistically significant difference from control.*



Fig 14. Smooth muscle contraction in rat aorta in response to phenylephrine.

These experiments demonstrated, that segments incubated in the presence of M1 protein or LPS showed a marked hyporesponsiveness towards the selective α_1 -adrenoreceptor agonist, phenylephrine (PE), commonly used in clinical practise to treat hypotensive sepsis patients (Fig 14).

To investigate if this hyporesponsiveness of M1 towards PE was in fact due to NO and not any other mechanism, we added the nitric oxide synthase inhibitor, L-NAME (Fig 15).



Fig 15 Smooth muscle contraction in rat aorta in response to phenylephrine.in the presence and absence of L-NAME.

The presence of L-NAME resulted in a greater response towards PE in the M1 protein pretreated segments (Fig 15). These findings suggest that the hyposensitivity to PE is indeed due to an M1 protein-induced increase in NO production. M1 protein-induced NO production was inhibited bv dexamethasone to the same extent as the production induced by LPS (68). This inhibition of dexamethasone can at least partly be explained by decreased activation of NF- $\kappa\beta$ and diminished iNOS mRNA transcription (71). The therapeutic value of corticosteroids in septic patients has been a long debate (72). The present results suggest that the modern clinical practise, which includes administrating low doses of these drugs to patients with vasopressor resistant circulatory failure due to sepsis, might be beneficial in both Gramnegative and Gram-positive sepsis (73).

To elucidate the receptors involved in the response to M1 protein we used immunohistochemistry at the electron microscope level (Fig 16).



Fig. 16. Ultra-thin sections of mouse aorta showing binding of M1 protein to TLR2 and TLR4 visualized with transmission electron microscopy. A and B are from a wild type, C and D from TLR2 -/- and E and F from TLR4 -/- mouse. In aorta from wild type mice, M1 protein (labelled with 10-nm gold particles, arrowheads) co-localized with antibodies (labelled with 5-nm gold particles, arrows) against TLR2 (A) and TLR4 (B) at the endothelial cell plasma membrane. TLR2 antibodies did not bind to aorta from TLR2 -/- mice (C) while M1 protein co-localized with TLR4 antibodies (D). Similarly, M1 protein co-localized with TLR2 antibodies (E) while TLR4 antibodies did not bind to aorta from TLR4 -/- mice (F). Bar, 100 nm. A pair of co-localized 10-nm and 5-nm gold particles, is shown in the circle.

These experiments were performed in order to investigate if M1 protein, as several other Gram-positive bacterial products, could be a ligand for TLR2 in the blood vessel wall (74). The results from the experiments in mouse aorta revealed that M1 protein binds to both TLR2 and TLR4. However, co-localization in immunoelectron microscopy does not necessary mean that M1 functionally activates the receptors. In order to investigate if M1 functionally activated both TLR2 and TLR4 we performed smooth muscle contraction experiments (Fig 17).



Fig 17. Smooth muscle contraction in response to phenylephrine in aorta segments from wild type (A), TLR2 -/- (B) and TLR4 -/- (C) mice.

Phenylephrine induced a concentration-dependent contraction in all the mouse aorta segments. The contractile response of the segments previously incubated with M1 protein (and LPS not shown) was weaker compared to control in the segments from WT and TLR2 -/- mice, while the contraction from TLR4 -/- mice was similar in all the segments, regardless of previous incubations.

The findings indicate that M1 protein is a functional ligand for TLR4 but not for TLR2 in mouse aorta, despite colocalization with both of these receptors in the immunogold experiments. To our knowledge, M1 is among the first Grampositive bacterial products shown to induce a TLR4 activation. The fact that M1 induced hyporesponsiveness towards PE in the TLR2 -/- but not in the TLR4 -/- mice rule out contamination of other bacterial compounds such as peptidoglycan and lipoteichoic acid well characterized agonists of TLR2.

In order to investigate if M1 did colocalize to TLR2 and or TLR4 receptors in humans we performed immunogold experiments with human arteries Fig 18.



Fig 18. Ultra-thin sections of human omental arteries showing colocalization of M1 protein to TLR2, indicated with an arrow (A) but not to TLR4 (B) visualized with transmission electron microscopy.

Our results from the human immunogold experiments are in coherence with previous findings by Pahlman and collegues (51) indicating that M1 interacts with TLR2 on human peripheral blood monocytes and increases their

expression of various proinflammatory cytokines. The finding that M1 did not co-localize with the human TLR4 emphasises that results from animal experiments with PAMPs and their corresponding TLRs must be confirmed in humans. The gene sequence variation in TLR2 and TLR4 between human and mice could explain this difference (75). Another explanation for the discrepancy for M1 and TLR in mice and humans might be the fact that we used aortas from the mice but human omental arteries.

We conclude that M1 protein from *S. pyogenes* induces NO formation in rat aorta, sufficient to cause a significant hyporesponsiveness to PE. This could contribute to the severe hypotension we see in STSS patients (76). We also found that M1 protein from *S. pyogenes* can attach to both TLR2 and TLR4 but, at least in mouse aorta, only functionally activates the latter. M1 protein does, however, not interact with human vascular TLR4. Moreover, the results indicate that M1 protein could be used to induce an LPS-independent vascular NO production in a model to test immunomodulatory effects of antimicrobial peptides.

Paper IV

In order to investigate the effects of the LL-37 derived peptide GKE on vascular inflammation, we chose three previously known proinflammatory substances IL-1 β , purified M1 protein from the outer wall of *S. pyogenes*, and LTA from *S. pyogenes*, all proposed to contribute to the hemodynamic and metabolic disturbances seen in septic shock and multiorgan failure (18-21).

Interleukin-1 β induced a higher nitrite/nitrate production compared to control (Fig. 19). GKE at 0.2 μ M inhibited the interleukin-1 β induced nitrite/nitrate production but GKE at higher concentrations increased IL-1 β induced NO-production.



Fig 19. Nitrite/nitrate accumulation in rat aorta segments after incubation with interleukin-1 β , in the presence and absence of the LL-37 derived peptide GKE. * statistically significant. difference from value obtained by interleukin-1 β in the absence of GKE.



Fig 20. Nitrite/nitrate accumulation in rat aorta segments after incubation with M1 protein from Streptococcus pyogenes, in the presence and absence of the LL-37 derived peptide, GKE.

M1 protein induced a higher nitrite/nitrate production compared to control (Fig 20). GKE at the concentrations used did not affect the M1 protein induced nitrite/nitrate production



Fig 21. Nitrite/nitrate accumulation in rat aorta segments after incubation with lipoteichoic acid from Streptococcus pyogenes, in the presence and absence of the LL-37 derived peptide GKE

Lipoteichoic acid induced a higher nitrite/nitrate production compared to control (Fig 21). GKE at low concentrations did not affect the lipoteichoic acid induced nitrite/nitrate production while GKE at higher concentrations inhibited it.

IL-1 β , M1 protein as well as LTA were thus found to induce NO formation in rat aorta, in coherence with the literature as well as unpublished observations (23, 24, Paper III).

The biphasic response of GKE regarding IL-1 β , suggests multiple mechanisms of action by GKE. GKE did not, when incubated alone, have any effects on vascular NO formation. The fact that GKE did not affect M1 protein induced NO production but inhibited LTA-induced NO production, suggests that these two proinflammatory compounds from *S. pyogenes*, at least in rat aorta, induce vascular NO formation by different mechanisms. LTA is generally thought to

act primarily via toll-like receptor 2 (TLR2). There is evidence that M1 protein binds to TLR2 in human monocytes (21) and human omental arteries and veins (paper III, unpublished data). In experiments with mouse aorta, however, we found that M1 protein binds to both TLR2 and TLR4 receptor but only activates the latter (paper III, unpublished data). It is therefore plausible that M1-protein induced NO formation in rodents is mediated via TLR4. The different TLRs involved in cellular activation by LTA and M1 protein could be the reason for the differential effect of GKE.

We decided to further study the interplay between LTA and GKE due to the fact that attenuating LTA-induced secretion of vasodilators, such as NO, could be of great importance in combatting septic shock and multiorgan failure caused by Gram-positive bacteria (20). The experiments revealed that the anti-inflammatory effect brought about by GKE seems to involve neither the P2X₇ receptor nor FPRL1 receptor as their antagonists Kn62 and WRW4, respectively, did not inhibit the attenuating action of GKE on LTA-induced NO production (data not shown).

In conclusion, the candidate previously suggested for peptide based treatment of sepsis, GKE, seems to possess complex immunomodulatory effects.

CONCLUSIONS

Removal of hydrophobic amino acids from LL-37 decreases its cytotoxicity as well as its inhibition of serum but preserves the antimicrobial actions and LPS-binding properties.

By computer simulation we have identified GKE, a 21amino acids long peptide constituting the midportion of LL-37. GKE displayes antimicrobial and LPS-binding activities similar to those of LL-37 and is less cytotoxic.

Soluble M1 from *Streptococcus pyogenes* induces NO formation sufficient to cause hyporesponsiveness to phenylephrine, at least in mouse aorta mediated via TLR4.

GKE, a shorter version of LL-37, developed as described in Paper II, possesses complex immunomodulatory effects.

SUMMARY IN SWEDISH

Antimikrobiella peptider är kroppsegna antibiotika som frisätts vid infektioner och inflammationer. LL-37 är ett spiralformat sådant som består av 37 aminosyror. Det har inte endast ett brett antimikrobiellt spektrum utan binder och neutraliserar även endotoxiner som finns i Gram-negativa bakteriers vägg. Endotoxiner har stor betydelse för utvecklingen av den svikt av livsviktiga organ som kan bli följden av svåra intensivvårdskrävande infektioner såsom blodförgiftning (sepsis). Endotoxiner kan nämligen stimulera kärlen att bilda kvävemonoxid som i sin tur leder till att kärlen vidgar sig vilket kan bidra till det blodtrycksfall man ser vid allvarlig blodförgiftning.

LL-37 skulle alltså kunna användas som ett läkemedel vid allvarlig blodförgiftning. Tyvärr är LL-37, som det förekommer i kroppen, giftigt mot våra celler och därmed inte användbart, trots sina stora fördelar.

Delarbete I. Vissa fettlösliga delar av LL-37 skulle kunna ligga bakom giftigheten. Vi lät därför syntetisera två varianter av LL-37 som inte var lika fettlösliga. Dessa LL-37-varianter visade sig vara minst lika aktiva mot mikroorganismer och kunde även binda endotoxin och neutralisera dess stimulerande effekt på kväveoxidbildningen som LL-37, men var mindre giftiga mot mänskliga celler som mätt med två olika metoder.

Delarbete II. Vi använde datorprogram för att identifiera spiralformade delar av LL-37 som man tidigare har kopplat till dess förmåga att döda microorganismer. Vår hypotes var att man skulle kunna framställa kortare och mindre giftiga varianter av LL-37 förutsatt att spiralstrukturen är bevarad. Vi hittade ett lovande 21 aminosyror långt fragment, GKE, som visade sig ha minst lika stor antibiotisk effekt mot bakerier och svamp som är ofta orsakar sepsis som LL-37. GKE kunde även binda och neutralisera endotoxiner. GKE visade sig även mindre giftig mot mänskliga celler. Vi hoppas därför att GKE skulle kunna vara användbar som en ny peptidbaserad behandling av sepsis.

Delarbete III. Septisk chock och multiorgansvikt är en huvudorsak till mortalitet på intensivvårdsavdelningen. Infektion med den Gram-positiva bakterien *Streptococcus pyogenes* är en vanlig utlösande faktor. Streptokocker som uttrycker M-proteiner i sin cellvägg bedöms vara extra farliga. M-protein är en familj av olika faktorer som bidrar till bakteriernas förmåga att infektera. Man har nyligen visat att M1-proteiner (som oftast bidrar till allvarliga invasiva streptocockinfektioner) kan aktivera vita blodkroppar och därmed påverka kroppens immunförsvar att bekämpa infektioner. Vi ville se om M1 protein kunde liksom endotoxin från Gram-negativa bakterier stimulera kvävemonoxid-bildning i blodkärl och därmed bidra till det besvärliga blodtrycksfallet som man ser hos dessa patienter. Det visade sig att M1-protein gav en kvävemonoxid-bildning som var så pass stor att den försämrade kärlens förmåga att dra ihop sig vid tilförsel av ett känt blodtrycksförhöjande läkemedel, fenylefrin. Det visade sig även att vissa receptore, vilka benämns Toll-like receptorer, bidrar till denna kvävemonoxid-bildning.

Delarbete IV. Naturligt förekommande LL-37 har visat sig kunna påverka immunförsvaret på olika sätt, och vi ville se om GKE, som vi identifierat i delarbete II också hade en sådan förmåga. Det visade sig att GKE på ett komplicerat sätt kan påverka immunförsvaret.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

To Micke, the best mentor in the world. Thank you for giving me the ladder to climb so high that I could watch, admire and understand the world of science. Thank you for all the funny times we have had speaking different accents and different languages, and thanks for your help in the rat killing, despite your allergy! You said that the goals at our lab are; having fun, fun, and then some more fun, if something good comes out of it, its just a bonus. You are the best, and I cannot thank you enough.

Thanks to my co-workers at the lab; Ingrid, you are among the few people in the world that can make me laugh and laugh. In Glasgow, we laughed for a whole week. You make me happy! Thank you for all the pepper liquorice candies!

Thanks to Axel, for all your help in finding out how to dilute solutions, and all the patient and help when the computer did not obey me, I hope that one day you will be one of us, an Anaesthesiologist, because we're the best and it is even scientifically proven (published in Dagens Medicine, specialists voted which other specialist they would like to have by their side in emergencies, and nurses voted which specialists they would like to have with them at parties, the answer, Anaesthesiologists!). Thanks to Johan, who grew from being a innocent boy knowing nothing about medicine, into being the most professional rat killer of all!

Thanks to Pia, who by her known patience guided me through my first years at the lab! Thanks to Malgortzata, for teaching me how to isolate neutrophils, yours never clottet, mine always did! Thanks to Maria, "Vom canta, vom canta un cantec pentru tine"! You helped me so much.

Thanks to Monika, I know how hard it is to prepare M1 protein, and thank you for provide it when I so desparately needed it. Thanks to Mina, for every lunch you gave me from your plate, halim badimjan, and for teaching me how to cook rice the right way and always lending me your calculator! Thanks to Viktoria and Emma, for teaching me what a Falcon tube means, and lending me pipettes, sterile tipps, and your calculator, whenever I needed it. Andreas, Mukesh, Pravin, thank you all, for your friendship and the endless talk about the Grandmother in India! Special thanks to Lina Gefors, without you, my thesis would not have been as beautiful, I ow you a bottle of fine red wine.

Thanks to Anita, you make me feel happy in the morning! Thanks to all of the rest at BMC B 14!!

Thanks to Viveka former Thörn now Björck, for despite make-up, gourgeous hair, and Pilgrim jewelry was able to kill rats, like she had done nothing else her whole life, she made the right choise of speciality and I m so proud! Thanks to my German friends, and co-authors, the highly intelligent; Matthias Mörgelin, and Heiko Herwald. "Ich liebe ihr mit mein ganzem Hertz" Thanks to Arthur Schmitzchen, for your beautiful violine playing in my office and all the brilliant ideas you gave us for my papers! Thanks to Martin Malmström the Liposome Man, unfortunately I ve never met you but the experiments you did for me were fabulous.

Thanks to the best LL-37 specialist in the world, Ole Sørensen, for everything you tought me about this marvelous peptide.

Special thanks my friend Sigurbjörg Rutardottir, without you, I would not have finished this thesis for years, you are one of a kind. Thank you for you friendship, and for baking increadible birthday cakes for my children the past seven years.

Thank you, Karin Thorlacius, the presentation of your thesis one Wednesday evening encouraged me to talk to Mikael, to do one little article!

I would like to specially than the following collegues at the Aneasthesiologic and Intensive Care Department at Lund University Hospital.

The schematic layers, my roomies the diamonde Lady Lisbet Mondel and Ingrid Östlund for always calling me at home when it was time to post my requests and Sofus Rabow, for giving me all I wanted this spring, I hope it will continue like that!

Thank you Raine, I know I have not been easy but you made my life easy!!!!

My former boss, Eva Ranklev-Twetman, for you endless believe in me, thank you Eva. My present boss Görel Nergelius, for giving me the opportunity ,despite lack of staff, to finish my thesis, thank you very much.

My collegues: Alexey Dolinin; my Russian father in life, for being there, close to me, teaching me and my family how to climb walls on early Sunday mornings and how to be an excellent anaesthesiologist, despite the fact that you always did it a little bit more beautiful! Thank you, Richard Linnér, for cooking for me, and your endless uplightning emails and sms, thank you Maris, you are one of a kind, never forget our lunch in Brussel! Thanks to JP, Hans and PO, John Jahr, Jan-Erik, Martin, Mårten, Anna, Borit, Åsa, Malin, Peter and Gunilla and all the rest of my collegues that have in some way helped me and enlighted my life throughout the years.

Thank you Svajunas for all the Icelandic gourmet food and presents from my family that you have carried over the sea!

Thanks to Girish Baskar Hirlekar for teaching me the *Art of Anaesthesia*, thanks to Helga Kristin Magnusdottir for all her clinical tips she tought me and I still use, and Sigurdur Einar Sigurdarsson for facilitating me to get admitted at Lund. Thanks to Dr Alma Möller for her kindness during my first year here in Sweden.

To my friends; Valli, your friendship and love means the world to me, you're everything a friend can be. Brynja, for all the flea markets we went to when I was supposed to work on my thesis, please do not move back home! M-Nanna, Hördur Breki and Dagrun, for the fact that I love them as they were mine. To Gunna, for always being there for me throughout the years, and an endless source of laughter. To Snjoka and Hjörtur for their ab fab parties and friendship. To the friends that have gone back home and I miss endlessly, Maja, Oli, Jonas, Hlif, Jon Magnus and Inga.

I would like to thank The Memory Foundation of Helga Jonsdottir and Sigurlidi Kristjansson for their financial support.

To my family: my parents for always teaching me that I was beautiful, intelligent and funny and I could be whatever I wanted to, despite the fact that my mother always wanted me to be a nurse! To my brothers and sister; Árni, Magga and Siggi Orri, cannot describe my love for you guys in a few words. To Ina and Oli for their courage of getting in to this family. To Selma and Sigurdur Bjarmi who are so close to my heart. To my grandmother for Margret Helgadottir, for everything she has given me throuhgout the years and for hanging in there! To my beautiful mother in law Dagny Sigurgeirsdottir, for all her support throughout the years. To Hilma and Nonni for being there!!!

Thanks to Hrafnhildur Soffia, and Kristjan, being one of you makes me feel honoured. Thanks to all the rest of Sveinbjörns brothers and sisters.

To my hero; Elias Edengrand, the strenght, and love, that you endourish, you are my true hero and I hope you enjoy my endless lipstick kisses on your cheak because they will not stop!

To my late grandfather Árni Bödvarsson Cand mag., for teaching me the importance of writing good essays, I would have needed your help in this one.

To Tobba, the Cat for curing me, out of cat fobia, for the love she gives me in her good moods, and the hatred in her bad ones!

To my beautiful and handsome husband, the true love of my life, Sveinbjörn. I have loved you since I first laid my eyes on you. You are my north my south my east and west. You are simply the best.

To my most loved ones, my children Einar Tomas and Helga Isold the most beautiful and intelligent children and funniest children I know. I am so proud to be your mother.

REFERENCES

- [1] Cohen J. The immunopathogenesis of sepsis. *Nature*. 2002; **420**: 885-91.
- [2] Bone RC, Balk RA, Cerra FB, *et al.* Definitions for sepsis and organ failure and guidelines for the use of innovative therapies in sepsis. The ACCP/SCCM Consensus Conference Committee. American College of Chest Physicians/Society of Critical Care Medicine. *Chest.* 1992; **101**: 1644-55.
- [3] Hotchkiss RS, Karl IE. The pathophysiology and treatment of sepsis. *The New England journal of medicine*. 2003; 348: 138-50.
- [4] Lever A, Mackenzie I. Sepsis: definition, epidemiology, and diagnosis. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.* 2007; 335: 879-83.
- [5] Martin GS, Mannino DM, Eaton S, Moss M. The epidemiology of sepsis in the United States from 1979 through 2000. *The New England journal of medicine*. 2003; 348: 1546-54.
- [6] Harrison DA, Welch CA, Eddleston JM. The epidemiology of severe sepsis in England, Wales and Northern Ireland, 1996 to 2004: secondary analysis of a high quality clinical database, the ICNARC Case Mix Programme Database. *Critical care (London, England)*. 2006; 10: R42.
- [7] O'Brien KL, Beall B, Barrett NL, et al. Epidemiology of invasive group a streptococcus disease in the United States, 1995-1999. Clin Infect Dis. 2002; 35: 268-76.
- [8] Blumberg HM, Jarvis WR, Soucie JM, et al. Risk factors for candidal bloodstream infections in surgical intensive care unit patients: the NEMIS prospective multicenter study. The National Epidemiology of Mycosis Survey. Clin Infect Dis. 2001; 33: 177-86.
- [9] Makhoul IR, Kassis I, Smolkin T, Tamir A, Sujov P. Review of 49 neonates with acquired fungal sepsis: further characterization. *Pediatrics*. 2001; **107**: 61-6.
- [10] Bochud PY, Calandra T. Pathogenesis of sepsis: new concepts and implications for future treatment. BMJ (Clinical research ed. 2003; 326: 262-6.
- [11] Yang RB, Mark MR, Gray A, et al. Toll-like receptor-2 mediates lipopolysaccharideinduced cellular signalling. *Nature*. 1998; 395: 284-8.
- [12] Opal SM, Huber CE. Bench-to-bedside review: Toll-like receptors and their role in septic shock. *Critical care (London, England)*. 2002; 6: 125-36.

- [13] Peters K, Unger RE, Brunner J, Kirkpatrick CJ. Molecular basis of endothelial dysfunction in sepsis. *Cardiovascular research*. 2003; 60: 49-57.
- [14] Stein D, Roth S, Vogelsang E, Nusslein-Volhard C. The polarity of the dorsoventral axis in the Drosophila embryo is defined by an extracellular signal. *Cell*. 1991; **65**: 725-35.
- [15] Takeuchi O, Hoshino K, Kawai T, *et al.* Differential roles of TLR2 and TLR4 in recognition of gram-negative and gram-positive bacterial cell wall components. *Immunity.* 1999; 11: 443-51.
- [16] Hoshino K, Takeuchi O, Kawai T, *et al.* Cutting edge: Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4)deficient mice are hyporesponsive to lipopolysaccharide: evidence for TLR4 as the Lps gene product. *J Immunol.* 1999; **162**: 3749-52.
- [17] Mitchell JA, Paul-Clark MJ, Clarke GW, McMaster SK, Cartwright N. Critical role of toll-like receptors and nucleotide oligomerisation domain in the regulation of health and disease. *The Journal of endocrinology*. 2007; **193**: 323-30.
- [18] Furchgott RF, Zawadzki JV. The obligatory role of endothelial cells in the relaxation of arterial smooth muscle by acetylcholine. *Nature*. 1980; **288**: 373-6.
- [19] Kirkeboen KA, Strand OA. The role of nitric oxide in sepsis--an overview. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand*. 1999; **43**: 275-88.
- [20] Medzhitov R, Janeway C, Jr. Innate immunity. *The New England journal of medicine*. 2000; **343**: 338-44.
- [21] Chaplin DD. 1. Overview of the immune response. *The Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*. 2003; **111**: S442-59.
- [22] Zasloff M. Antimicrobial peptides in health and disease. *The New England journal of medicine*. 2002; **347**: 1199-200.
- [23] Boman HG. Antibacterial peptides: basic facts and emerging concepts. *J Intern Med.* 2003; **254**: 197-215.
- [24] Zasloff M. Antimicrobial peptides of multicellular organisms. *Nature*. 2002; 415: 389-95.
- [25] Brogden KA. Antimicrobial peptides: pore formers or metabolic inhibitors in bacteria? *Nature reviews*. 2005; 3: 238-50.
- [26] Yeaman MR, Yount NY. Mechanisms of antimicrobial peptide action and resistance. *Pharmacological reviews*. 2003; 55: 27-55.
- [27] Agerberth B, Gunne H, Odeberg J, Kogner P, Boman HG, Gudmundsson GH. FALL-39, a putative human peptide antibiotic, is cysteine-free and expressed in bone marrow and testis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1995; **92**: 195-9.

- [28] Cowland JB, Johnsen AH, Borregaard N. hCAP-18, a cathelin/pro-bactenecin-like protein of human neutrophil specific granules. *FEBS Lett.* 1995; 368: 173-6.
- [29] Larrick JW, Hirata M, Balint RF, Lee J, Zhong J, Wright SC. Human CAP18: a novel antimicrobial lipopolysaccharide-binding protein. *Infect Immun.* 1995; 63: 1291-7.
- [30] Sorensen OE, Borregaard N, Cole AM. Antimicrobial peptides in innate immune responses. *Contributions to microbiology*. 2008; 15: 61-77.
- [31] Sorensen OE, Thapa DR, Rosenthal A, Liu L, Roberts AA, Ganz T. Differential regulation of beta-defensin expression in human skin by microbial stimuli. *J Immunol*. 2005; **174**: 4870-9.
- [32] Heilborn JD, Nilsson MF, Jimenez CI, *et al.* Antimicrobial protein hCAP18/LL-37 is highly expressed in breast cancer and is a putative growth factor for epithelial cells. *International journal of cancer.* 2005; **114**: 713-9.
- [33] Weber G, Heilborn JD, Chamorro Jimenez CI, Hammarsjo A, Torma H, Stahle M. Vitamin D induces the antimicrobial protein hCAP18 in human skin. *The Journal of investigative dermatology*. 2005; **124**: 1080-2.
- [34] Ciornei CD, Egesten A, Bodelsson M. Effects of human cathelicidin antimicrobial peptide LL-37 on lipopolysaccharide-induced nitric oxide release from rat aorta in vitro. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand.* 2003; 47: 213-20.
- [35] De Y, Chen Q, Schmidt AP, *et al.* LL-37, the neutrophil granule- and epithelial cellderived cathelicidin, utilizes formyl peptide receptor-like 1 (FPRL1) as a receptor to chemoattract human peripheral blood neutrophils, monocytes, and T cells. *J Exp Med.* 2000; **192**: 1069-74.
- [36] Carlsson G, Fasth A. Infantile genetic agranulocytosis, morbus Kostmann: presentation of six cases from the original "Kostmann family" and a review. *Acta Paediatr.* 2001; 90: 757-64.
- [37] Putsep K, Carlsson G, Boman HG, Andersson M. Deficiency of antibacterial peptides in patients with morbus Kostmann: an observation study. *Lancet*. 2002; **360**: 1144-9.
- [38] Rossolini GM, Mantengoli E. Antimicrobial resistance in Europe and its potential impact on empirical therapy. *Clin Microbiol Infect*. 2008; **14 Suppl 6**: 2-8.
- [39] Johansson J, Gudmundsson GH, Rottenberg ME, Berndt KD, Agerberth B. Conformation-dependent antibacterial activity of the naturally occurring human peptide LL-37. *J Biol Chem*. 1998; **273**: 3718-24.
- [40] Dathe M, Wieprecht T, Nikolenko H, *et al.* Hydrophobicity, hydrophobic moment and angle subtended by charged residues modulate antibacterial and haemolytic activity of amphipathic helical peptides. *FEBS letters*. 1997; **403**: 208-12.

- [41] Turner J, Cho Y, Dinh NN, Waring AJ, Lehrer RI. Activities of LL-37, a cathelinassociated antimicrobial peptide of human neutrophils. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 1998; 42: 2206-14.
- [42] Sorensen O, Bratt T, Johnsen AH, Madsen MT, Borregaard N. The human antibacterial cathelicidin, hCAP-18, is bound to lipoproteins in plasma. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 1999; 274: 22445-51.
- [43] Lancefield RC. Current knowledge of type-specific M antigens of group A streptococci. J Immunol. 1962; 89: 307-13.
- [44] Kotb M, Norrby-Teglund A, McGeer A, et al. An immunogenetic and molecular basis for differences in outcomes of invasive group A streptococcal infections. Nature medicine. 2002; 8: 1398-404.
- [45] Cunningham MW. Pathogenesis of group A streptococcal infections. Clinical microbiology reviews. 2000; 13: 470-511.
- [46] Davies HD, McGeer A, Schwartz B, et al. Invasive group A streptococcal infections in Ontario, Canada. Ontario Group A Streptococcal Study Group. The New England journal of medicine. 1996; 335: 547-54.
- [47] Smoot JC, Korgenski EK, Daly JA, Veasy LG, Musser JM. Molecular analysis of group A Streptococcus type emm18 isolates temporally associated with acute rheumatic fever outbreaks in Salt Lake City, Utah. *Journal of clinical microbiology*. 2002; 40: 1805-10.
- [48] McNamara C, Zinkernagel AS, Macheboeuf P, Cunningham MW, Nizet V, Ghosh P. Coiled-coil irregularities and instabilities in group A Streptococcus M1 are required for virulence. *Science (New York, NY.* 2008; **319**: 1405-8.
- [49] Li Z, Sakota V, Jackson D, Franklin AR, Beall B. Array of M protein gene subtypes in 1064 recent invasive group A streptococcus isolates recovered from the active bacterial core surveillance. *The Journal of infectious diseases*. 2003; 188: 1587-92.
- [50] Talkington DF, Schwartz B, Black CM, et al. Association of phenotypic and genotypic characteristics of invasive Streptococcus pyogenes isolates with clinical components of streptococcal toxic shock syndrome. *Infection and immunity*. 1993; 61: 3369-74.
- [51] Pahlman LI, Morgelin M, Eckert J, et al. Streptococcal M protein: a multipotent and powerful inducer of inflammation. J Immunol. 2006; 177: 1221-8.
- [52] Pahlman LI, Olin AI, Darenberg J, et al. Soluble M1 protein of Streptococcus pyogenes triggers potent T cell activation. *Cellular microbiology*. 2008; 10: 404-14.
- [53] Hegesh E, Shiloah J. Blood nitrates and infantile methemoglobinemia. *Clinica chimica acta; international journal of clinical chemistry*. 1982; **125**: 107-15.

- [54] Wagner DA, Young VR, Tannenbaum SR. Mammalian nitrate biosynthesis: incorporation of 15NH3 into nitrate is enhanced by endotoxin treatment. *Proceedings of* the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1983; 80: 4518-21.
- [55] Palmer RM, Ferrige AG, Moncada S. Nitric oxide release accounts for the biological activity of endothelium-derived relaxing factor. *Nature*. 1987; **327**: 524-6.
- [56] Ignarro LJ, Buga GM, Wood KS, Byrns RE, Chaudhuri G. Endothelium-derived relaxing factor produced and released from artery and vein is nitric oxide. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 1987; **84**: 9265-9.
- [57] Wei XQ, Charles IG, Smith A, *et al.* Altered immune responses in mice lacking inducible nitric oxide synthase. *Nature*. 1995; **375**: 408-11.
- [58] Lopez A, Lorente JA, Steingrub J, et al. Multiple-center, randomized, placebocontrolled, double-blind study of the nitric oxide synthase inhibitor 546C88: effect on survival in patients with septic shock. *Critical care medicine*. 2004; **32**: 21-30.
- [59] Wang Y, Agerberth B, Lothgren A, Almstedt A, Johansson J. Apolipoprotein A-I binds and inhibits the human antibacterial/cytotoxic peptide LL-37. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 1998; 273: 33115-8.
- [60] Nagaoka I, Hirota S, Niyonsaba F, et al. Augmentation of the lipopolysaccharideneutralizing activities of human cathelicidin CAP18/LL-37-derived antimicrobial peptides by replacement with hydrophobic and cationic amino acid residues. *Clinical* and diagnostic laboratory immunology. 2002; 9: 972-82.
- [61] Luu NT, Rainger GE, Nash GB. Differential ability of exogenous chemotactic agents to disrupt transendothelial migration of flowing neutrophils. *J Immunol.* 2000; 164: 5961-9.
- [62] Hechtman DH, Cybulsky MI, Fuchs HJ, Baker JB, Gimbrone MA, Jr. Intravascular IL-8. Inhibitor of polymorphonuclear leukocyte accumulation at sites of acute inflammation. *J Immunol.* 1991; **147**: 883-92.
- [63] Ley K, Baker JB, Cybulsky MI, Gimbrone MA, Jr., Luscinskas FW. Intravenous interleukin-8 inhibits granulocyte emigration from rabbit mesenteric venules without altering L-selectin expression or leukocyte rolling. *J Immunol*. 1993; 151: 6347-57.
- [64] Ciornei CD, Sigurdardottir T, Schmidtchen A, Bodelsson M. Antimicrobial and chemoattractant activity, lipopolysaccharide neutralization, cytotoxicity, and inhibition by serum of analogs of human cathelicidin LL-37. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2005; 49: 2845-50.
- [65] Jackson JJ, Kropp H. beta-Lactam antibiotic-induced release of free endotoxin: in vitro comparison of penicillin-binding protein (PBP) 2-specific imipenem and PBP 3-specific ceftazidime. *The Journal of infectious diseases*. 1992; 165: 1033-41.

- [66] Fukumoto K, Nagaoka I, Yamataka A, et al. Effect of antibacterial cathelicidin peptide CAP18/LL-37 on sepsis in neonatal rats. *Pediatric surgery international*. 2005; 21: 20-4.
- [67] Bowdish DM, Davidson DJ, Lau YE, Lee K, Scott MG, Hancock RE. Impact of LL-37 on anti-infective immunity. *Journal of leukocyte biology*. 2005; **77**: 451-9.
- [68] Fleming I, Gray GA, Julou-Schaeffer G, Parratt JR, Stoclet JC. Incubation with endotoxin activates the L-arginine pathway in vascular tissue. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*. 1990; **171**: 562-8.
- [69] Julou-Schaeffer G, Gray GA, Fleming I, Schott C, Parratt JR, Stoclet JC. Loss of vascular responsiveness induced by endotoxin involves L-arginine pathway. *The American journal of physiology*. 1990; 259: H1038-43.
- [70] Terluk M, Cunha Da Silva E, Antunes T, Assreuy J. The presence of the endothelial layer reduces nitric oxide-induced hyporesponsiveness to phenylephrine in rat aorta. *Endothelium*. 2004; **11**: 181-7.
- [71] Matsumura M, Kakishita H, Suzuki M, Banba N, Hattori Y. Dexamethasone suppresses iNOS gene expression by inhibiting NF-kappaB in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Life sciences*. 2001; 69: 1067-77.
- [72] Annane D, Bellissant E, Bollaert PE, Briegel J, Keh D, Kupfer Y. Corticosteroids for severe sepsis and septic shock: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.* 2004; **329**: 480.
- [73] Seeling M, Eggers V, Spies C. Surviving Sepsis Campaign: guideline clarification. *Critical care medicine*. 2008; 36: 2490; author reply 90-1.
- [74] Cartwright N, McMaster SK, Sorrentino R, *et al.* Elucidation of toll-like receptor and adapter protein signaling in vascular dysfunction induced by gram-positive Staphylococcus aureus or gram-negative Escherichia coli. *Shock (Augusta, Ga.* 2007; 27: 40-7.
- [75] Rehli M. Of mice and men: species variations of Toll-like receptor expression. *Trends in immunology*. 2002; 23: 375-8.
- [76] Eriksson BK, Andersson J, Holm SE, Norgren M. Epidemiological and clinical aspects of invasive group A streptococcal infections and the streptococcal toxic shock syndrome. *Clin Infect Dis.* 1998; 27: 1428-36.